
                                                                 City Hall 
                                                                 117 S. Main Street 

                                                                           Fayette, MO 65248  

                                                                          Ph:(660) 248-5246  

                                                                                                                                          Fax:(660) 248-3502 

 

Tentative Agenda 

August 13, 2024 

 

Regular Meeting of the Board of Alderman of the City of Fayette 

Fayette City Hall, 117 South Main, Fayette, MO 65248 

Tuesday, August 13, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. 

 

A. CALL TO ORDER 

 

B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 

C. ROLL CALL 

 

D. ADDITIONS TO AND APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 

E. APPROVAL OF MINUTES FOR THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF 

ALDERMAN HELD ON JULY 23, 2024 

 

F. VISITORS: 

 

1. Dr. Drake of Central Methodist University 

2. Angie Malone of REH Solutions, LLC 

3. Ann Schnell of Parks Commission 

4. Pam Huttsell of Fayette Historic Preservation Commission 

 

G. CITIZEN PARTICIPATION: 

 

H. CITY STAFF REPORTS: 

1. City Marshal 

2. City Electric Superintendent 

3. City Clerk 

4. City Attorney 

 

I. NEW BUSINESS: 

1. PAY RESOLUTION 2024-16 APPROVING INVOICES FOR PAYMENT 

 

2. DISCUSSION AND/OR APPROVAL OF REPLACING AIR CONDITIONING SYSTEM 

AT THE ELECTRIC SWITCH GEAR BUILDING. 

 

 



                                                                 City Hall 
                                                                 117 S. Main Street 

                                                                           Fayette, MO 65248  

                                                                          Ph:(660) 248-5246  

                                                                                                                                          Fax:(660) 248-3502 

 

3. DISCUSSION AND/OR APPROVAL OF BILL NO. 2024-11, AN ORDINANCE 

AMENDING CHAPTER 405 OF THE CITY CODE REGARDING HISTORIC 

BUILDINGS. 

 

4. DISCUSSION AND/OR APPROVAL OF BILL NO. 2024-12, AN ORDINANCE 

AMENDING CHAPTER 415 OF THE CITY CODE REGARDING HISTORIC 

BUILDINGS. 

 

5. DISCUSSION AND/OR APPROVAL OF NEW BUSINESS LICENSE FOR TRIANGLE 

ELECTRIC, LLC. 

 

6. DISCUSSION AND/OR APPROVAL OF NEW BUSINESS LICENSE FOR CGE 

ENTERPRISES, LLC, D/B/A THE GYM FAYETTE, LLC. 

 

7. DISCUSSION AND/OR APPROVAL OF NEW BUSINESS LICENSE FOR CORE 

CONSTRUCTION SERVICES, LLC, D/B/A CORE CONSTRUCTION. 

 

8. DISCUSSION AND/OR APPROVAL OF PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 

APPOINTMENT JOEY SMITH. 

 

9. DISCUSSION AND/OR APPROVAL OF BILL NO. 2024-16, AN ORDINANCE 

AMENDING SECTION 205.100, LICENSE FOR DOGS, ISSUANCE OF LICENSE, 

ANNUAL FEE, VACINATION. 

 

10. DISCUSSION AND/OR APPROVAL OF BILL NO. 2024-17 AMENDING THE TRASH 

SERVICE FEE. 

 

11. DISCUSSION AND/OR APPROVAL REQUEST FOR WAIVER OF EXCESS SEWER 

CHARGE FOR THE FOLLOWING: 

• 311 S. Main Street 

• 410 North Church Street 

 

J. BOARD OF ALDERMAN COMMENTS & COMMITTEE UPDATE: 

a. Stephanie Ford, East Ward 

b. Ronda Gerlt, East Ward 

c. Peggy O’Connell, Northwest Ward 

d. Michelle Ishmael, Northwest Ward 

e. LeeAnna Shiflett, Southwest Ward 

f. Marsha Broadus, Southwest Ward 

 

 



                                                                 City Hall 
                                                                 117 S. Main Street 

                                                                           Fayette, MO 65248  

                                                                          Ph:(660) 248-5246  

                                                                                                                                          Fax:(660) 248-3502 

 

K. MAYOR’S COMMENTS: 

 

L. MOTION TO ADJOURN TO CLOSED SESSION PURSUANT TO RSMO CHAPTER 610.021 

(2) LEASING, PURCHASE OR SALE OF REAL ESTATE BY A PUBLIC GOVERNMENT 

BODY WHERE PUBLIC KNOWLEDGE OF THE TRANSACTION MIGHT ADVERSELY 

AFFECT THE LEGAL CONSIDERATION THEREFORE: RSMO CHAPTER 610.021 (3) 

HIRING, FIRING, DISCIPLINING OR PROMOTING OF PARTICULAR EMPLOYEES BY A 

PUBLIC GOVERNMENTAL BODY WHEN PERSONAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE 

EMPLOYEE IS DISCUSSED OR RECORDED; RSMO CHAPTER 610.021 (13) 

INDIVIDUALLY IDENTIFIABLE PERSONAL RECORDS, PERFORMANCE RATING OR 

RECORDS PERTAINING TO EMPLOYEES OR APPLICANTS FOR EMPLOYMENT 

• Employee Review  

 

M. MOTION TO ADJOURNMENT: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Posted Monday, August 12, 2024 at 9:00 a.m. 



1 
 

City of Fayette: Board of Aldermen Meeting Minutes, July 23, 2024 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF ALDERMAN OF 
THE CITY OF FAYETTE, MISSOURI 

TUESDAY, JULY 23, 2024 

CALL TO ORDER 

The regular meeting of the Board of Aldermen of the City of Fayette was called to order at 6:00 p.m., July 

23, 2024 by Mayor Greg Stidham. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Everyone in the Chamber rose for the Pledge of Allegiance led by Alderwoman Gerlt.                     . 

ROLL CALL 

Roll Call verified five Board Members present for the meeting. 

Responding to the Roll Call:  Alderwoman Marsha Broadus, Alderwoman Michelle Ishmael, Alderwoman 

Peggy O’Connell, Alderwoman Ronda Gerlt, and Alderwoman Stephanie Ford. 

Alderwoman LeeAnna Shiflett joined the meeting at 6:49 p.m. 

ADDITIONS TO AND APPROVAL OF AGENDA. 

Alderwoman O’Connell motioned to approve the July 23, 2024 agenda with the additions of adding #13, 

to New Business.  Alderwoman Ishmael seconded the motion.  Five voting Aye. Nays – none.  Motion 

passed. 

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE BUDGET HELD JUNE 18, 2024 

Alderwoman O’Connell motioned to approve the minutes of the Budget Meeting held June 18, 2024 with 

one correction.  Alderwoman Broadus seconded the motion.  Five voting Aye. Nays – none.  Motion 

passed. 

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF 

ALDERMEN HELD ON JULY 9, 2024 

Alderwoman Broadus motioned to approve the minutes of the Budget Meeting held July 9, 2024.  

Alderwoman Ishmael seconded the motion.  Five voting Aye. Nays – none.  Motion passed. 

PUBLIC HEARING BEGINS 

The Public Hearing regarding amending City Code Section 405.310 and Section 415.450 of the City Code, 

both regarding historic buildings began at 6:02 p.m. 

Pam Huttsell suggested that the board wait for City Attorney Nathan Nickolaus to attend the meeting, who 

arrived shortly after. 



2 
 

City of Fayette: Board of Aldermen Meeting Minutes, July 23, 2024 

When the City Attorney arrived, he explained that if in the district, the business owner would have to get 

a Certificate of Appropriateness.  Mr. Nickolaus asked the board if they would like business owners to be 

required to complete the Certificate of Appropriateness or not.  

Pam Huttsell stated the recommendation from Planning & Zoning was if there were any changes to 

exterior of building, a Certificate of Appropriateness would be required, referring to the 

Advisory/Incentive Program.  If they were applying for an incentive through Main Street or CID funding 

programs, it would be required to follow recommendations if there were any change or demolition. 

Discussion was held regarding the issue and was decided to table the issue until the next board meeting. 

Alderwoman Broad motioned to table the issue until the next board meeting.  Alderwoman O’Connell 

seconded the motion.  Five voting Aye. Nays – none.  Motion passed. 

Public Hearing ended at 6:45 p.m. 

VISITORS 

Sonny Conrow, Curtis Hammonds, A.J. Stone, Dennis Daniels, DaShayla Bush 

Sonny Conrow spoke on behalf of all of the full-time city employees regarding the unfairness of one 

department to receive full insurance benefits, and asked the board to approve the same 100% benefit of 

health insurance premiums to be paid by the city, to all full-time employees. 

Ann Schnell 

Ann Schnell spoke on behalf of the Fayette Parks Commission regarding Wi-fi equipment in the amount 

of $1,115.00 through Airlink to be added to the Fayette Swimming Pool to prepare for the addition of 

cameras.  There will be no monthly charge after the initial charge. 

Due to the item not being on the agenda for a vote, it was decided to wait for City Attorney Nathan 

Nickolaus to get to the meeting to advise how to handle the vote. 

Mr. Nickolaus attended at 6:17 p.m. and was asked if a vote to approve the Wi-fi to be added to the pool, 

could go forward at the current meeting and he stated that it could be added to the agenda at this point.   

Alderwoman O’Connell motioned to add the purchase of the Wi-fi to the agenda as New Business  number 

14.  Alderwoman Gerlt seconded the motion.  Five voting Aye. Nays – none.  Motion passed. 

Pam Huttsell & Ann Schnell 

Pam Huttsell & Ann Schnell spoke on behalf of the Fayette Historic Preservation Commission and asked 

for the board’s permission to apply for a DAR Grant for repairs to the top section of the Fayette Swimming 

Pool and that the board agree to get the repairs done.  The grant will be in the amount of $10,000.00 with 

a matching $10,000.00 portion paid by the Friends of the Fayette Swimming Pool. 



3 
 

City of Fayette: Board of Aldermen Meeting Minutes, July 23, 2024 

Alderwoman O’Connell motioned to support the whole project and write letters and to do the due diligence 

to support them to the full measure that they request.  Alderwoman Gerlt seconded the motion.  Five 

voting Aye. Nays – none.  Motion passed. 

Mrs. Huttsell and Ms. Schnell also asked the board’s permission to apply for the 2025 Land and Water 

Conservation Fund Grant for repairs and improvements to the Fayette Swimming Pool. 

Alderwoman O’Connell motioned to support Ann and her bid to get the 2025 Land and Water 

Conservation Fund Grant.  Alderwoman Gerlt seconded the motion.  Five voting Aye. Nays – none.  

Motion passed. 

CITIZENS PARTICIPATION 

Ann Schnell 

Presented an informational sheet to be given to citizens by the building inspector. 

Regina Powell 

Regina Powell spoke about the traffic through South Park Street and the amount of dirt on the streets due 

to the construction of the new buildings. 

Ms. Powell shared that the Dump sign is gone and that people are cutting trees and taking it out. 

Ms. Powell asked the board to clean up the little pond at the City Park. 

CITY STAFF REPORTS 

CITY MARSHAL DAVID FORD 

City Marshal David Ford brought Lindsey Bachtel from 911 to ask the board for training funds in the 

amount of $300.00.  Mrs. Bachtel will send the city an invoice for payment.   

CITY ELECTRIC SUPERINTENDENT SONNY CONROW 

City Electric Superintendent Sonny Conrow presented a line-item request for four 50 KVA Pad mount 

Transformers, single phase meters, Dyna Coupler, tires, two rear wheels and a seat, in the amount of 

$36,477.11, which will be voted on in New Business. 

CITY WATER SUPERINTENDENT CURTIS HAMMONS 

City Water Superintendent Curtis Hammons presented a line-item request for 175 Smart points for  meters, 

eighty ¾” water meters and twenty 1” water meters in the amount of $46,770.00, which will be voted on 

in New Business. 

 



4 
 

City of Fayette: Board of Aldermen Meeting Minutes, July 23, 2024 

CITY CLERK JUDY THOMPSON 

City Clerk Judy Thompson reported that the City Hall will be closed the morning of July 31st to install a 

new server rack for the city mainframe. 

CITY ATTORNEY NATHAN NICKOLAUS 

City Attorney Nathan Nickolaus stated that the trash ordinance will need to be amended to change the 

price for trash services to $16.50 per customer.  The ordinance amended will be brought to the next board 

meeting. 

NEW BUSINESS  

PAY RESOLUTION 2024-15 APPROVING INVOICES FOR PAYMENT  

Alderwoman Ford motioned to approve Pay Resolution 2024-15, approving invoices for payment and 

salaries in the total sum of $87,903.00 which includes, General Fund $46,278.32, Electric Fund 

$13,588.12, Water Fund $21,071.48, Sewer Fund $6,965.08. Alderwoman O’Connell seconded the 

motion.  Six voting Aye.  Nays – None.  Motion passed. 

DISCUSSION AND/OR APPROVAL OF BILL NO. 2024-11, AN ORDINANCE AMENDING 

CHAPTER 405 OF THE CITY CODE REGARDING HISTORIC BUILDINGS. 

Tabled until next Board of Alderman meeting. 

DISCUSSION AND/OR APPROVAL OF BILL NO. 2024-12, AN ORDINANCE AMENDING 

CHAPTER 415 OF THE CITY CODE REGARDING HISTORIC BUILDINGS. 

Tabled until next Board of Alderman meeting. 

DISCUSSION AND/OR APPROVAL OF LINE-ITEM REQUEST FOR PAD MOUNT 

TRANSFORMERS FOR THE ELECTRIC DEPARTMENT. 

Alderwoman Ford motioned to approve the line-item request for four 50 KVA Pad Mount Transformers, 

single phase meters, Dyna Coupler, tires, two rear wheels and a seat, in the amount of $36,477.11.  

Alderwoman O’Connell seconded the motion.  Six voting Aye.  Nays – None.  Motion passed. 

 

DISCUSSION AND/OR APPROVAL OF LINE-ITEM REQUEST FOR WATER METERS AND 

SMART POINTS FOR METERS FOR THE WATER DEPARTMENT. 

Alderwoman Ford motioned to approve the line-item request for 175 Smart points for  meters, eighty ¾” 

water meters and twenty 1” water meters in the amount of $46,770.00 for the Water Department.  

Alderwoman O’Connell seconded the motion.  Six voting Aye.  Nays – None.  Motion passed. 

 

 



5 
 

City of Fayette: Board of Aldermen Meeting Minutes, July 23, 2024 

DISCUSSION AND/OR APPROVAL OF NEW BUSINESS LICENSE FOR OCHA IN THE 

COUNTRY, LLC, D/B/A OCHA ASIAN RESTAURANT. 

Alderwoman O’Connell motioned to approve the new business license for Ocha In The Country, LLC, 

d/b/a Ocha Asian Restaurant.  Alderwoman Shiflett seconded the motion.  Six voting Aye.  Nays – None.  

Motion passed. 

 

City Clerk Judy Thompson shared that the Missouri No Tax Due letter had not yet been received, so the 

motion was revised.  Alderwoman O’Connell motioned to approve the new business license for Ocha In 

The Country, LLC, d/b/a Ocha Asian Restaurant pending the receipt of the Missouri No Tax Due letter.  

Alderwoman Ishmael seconded the motion.  Six voting Aye.  Nays – None.  Motion passed. 

 

DISCUSSION AND/OR APPROVAL OF NEW BUSINESS LICENSE FOR REH SOLUTIONS, 

LLC 

Alderwoman Ford motioned to approve the new business license for REH Solutions, LLC.  Alderwoman 

Ishmael seconded the motion.  Six voting Aye.  Nays – None.  Motion passed. 

 

DISCUSSION AND/OR APPROVAL OF REPLACING AIR CONDITIONING SYSTEM AT THE 

ELECTRIC SWITCH GEAR BUILDING 

Tabled until next Board of Alderman meeting. 

DISCUSSION AND/OR APPROVAL OF HOUSING AUTHORITY APPOINTMENT OF LARRY 

ISHMAEL. 

Alderwoman Ford motioned to appoint Larry Ishmael to the Housing Authority Board.  Alderwoman 

Broadus seconded the motion.  Alderwoman Ford, Alderwoman Gerlt, Alderwoman O’Connell and 

Alderwoman Broadus voting Aye.  Alderwoman Shiflett and Alderwoman Ishmael Abstained.  Nays – 

None.  Motion passed. 

DISCUSSION AND/OR APPROVAL REQUEST FOR WAIVER OF EXCESS SEWER CHARGE 

FOR THE FOLLOWING: 

• 301 Reynolds Street 

Alderwoman Shiflett motioned to approve the sewer waiver for 301 Reynolds Street.  Alderwoman 

Ishmael seconded the motion.  Four voting Aye.  One Abstained, One voting Nay. Motion passed.   

Roll Call Vote:  Alderwoman Broadus, Alderwoman Ishmael, Alderwoman Shiflett and Alderwoman 

Gerlt voting Aye.  Alderwoman Ford abstained.  Alderwoman O’Connell voting Nay.  Motion passed.   

• 206 Lake Street 

Alderwoman Shiflett motioned to approve the sewer waiver for 20 Lake Street.  Alderwoman Broadus 

seconded the motion.  Six voting Aye.  Nays - None.  Motion passed.   



6 
 

City of Fayette: Board of Aldermen Meeting Minutes, July 23, 2024 

DISCUSSION AND/OR APPROVAL OF BILL NO. 2024-16, AN ORDINANCE AMENDING 

SECTION 205.100, LICENSE FOR DOGS, ISSUANCE OF LICENSE, ANNUAL FEE, 

VACINATION. 

Tabled until next Board of Alderman meeting. 

DISCUSSION AND/OR APPROVAL OF PROVIDING INSURANCE FOR EMPLOYEES. 

Alderwoman Shiflett motioned to approve the full payment of health insurance premiums for all 

employees in the amount of the lower plan.  Alderwoman Ishmael seconded the motion.  Five voting Aye. 

One Abstained. Nays – None.  Motion passed. 

Roll Call Vote:  Alderwoman Gerlt, Alderwoman Ishmael, Alderwoman Shiflett, Alderwoman O’Connell, 

Alderwoman Ishmael and Alderwoman Broadus voting Aye.  Alderwoman Ford abstained.  Nays - None.   

A Budget Amendment will be voted on at the next board meeting due to the cost of the insurance. 

DISCUSSION OF POOL GUIDELINES 

Alderwoman Ford discussed new pool guidelines including how to charge for pool parties with more than 

fifty swimmers. 

DISCUSSION AND OR APPROVAL OF THE PURCHASE OF WI-FI FOR THE FAYETTE 

SWIMMING POOL 

Alderwoman Ford motioned to approve the purchase of Wi-fi for the Fayette Swimming Pool. 

Alderwoman O’Connell seconded the motion.  Six voting Aye. Nays – None.  Motion passed. 

BOARD OF ALDERMAN & MAYOR COMMENTS & COMMITTEE UPDATES  

Alderwoman Stephanie Ford – East Ward 

Alderwoman Ford commented that she and Alderwoman O’Connell are working on the personnel manual. 

Alderwoman Ronda Gerlt – East Ward 

Alderwoman Gerlt stated that she hadn’t had a chance to go to a Parks meeting. 

Alderwoman Peggy O’Connell – Northwest Ward 

Mrs. O’Connell presented the Procurement Conflict of Interest Chapter 112 Ordinance on Authority 

Spending Limits and suggested that it be amended to increase the City Clerk spending limit to $5,000.00. 

Mrs. O’Connell inquired on an update on the leak on the Rickett’s Lake Dam.  Ann Schnell stated that 

two people have looked at it and both said the dam would have to be rebuilt, but Danny Dougherty stated 

the leak in the dam wasn’t bad enough to fix unless the leak got bigger. 

 



7 
 

City of Fayette: Board of Aldermen Meeting Minutes, July 23, 2024 

Alderwoman Michelle Ishmael – Northwest Ward 

Alderwoman Ishmael thanked Angie Malone, Mayor Stidham and Chief Ford for handling some matters 

regarding complaints. 

Mrs. Ishmael thanked the city for pot hole repair. 

Mrs. Ishmael commented on the chunk out of the road by Gale Shaffer’s house.  Superintendent Hammons 

stated that it was going to be fixed on Friday. 

Alderwoman LeeAnna Shiflett – Southwest Ward 

Alderwoman Shiflett had no comments. 

Alderwoman Marsha Broadus – Southwest Ward 

Alderwoman Broadus commented that speed bumps need to be added to the street in front of her house. 

Mayor Greg Stidham 

Mayor Stidham shared that the large number of students that came to town helped the city to do painting 

several areas of the city. 

Mr. Stidham reported City Clerk position has been posted and that several applications had been received. 

Mr. Stidham stated that Auditor John Gillum would be at the city in the coming week to finish the 2021 

audit. 

Mr. Stidham reported he would have a meeting with David Bach from Mid-Missouri Regional Planning 

at City Hall in the coming week to talk to him about the sewer project, golf course, street project and the 

Fayette Pool. 

Mr. Stidham reported that he had received some spam emails. 

TO CLOSED SESSION 

Alderwoman Broadus motioned to move to closed session at 7:35 p.m.  Alderwoman Ishmael seconded 

the motion.  Six voting Aye.  Nays – 0.  Motion Passed. 

Responding to Roll Call:  Alderwoman Ford, Alderwoman Ishmael, Alderwoman Gerlt , Alderwoman 

Shiflett, Alderwoman Gerlt and Alderwoman Ford.  

Alderwoman Broadus moved to adjourn closed session at 8:10 p.m. and go into open session.  

Alderwoman Ishmael seconded the motion. Six voting Aye.  Nays – None.  Motion passed. 

Roll Call Vote:  Ayes - Alderwoman Broadus, Alderwoman Ishmael, Alderwoman O’Connell, 

Alderwoman Shiflett, Alderwoman Gerlt and Alderwoman Ford. 



8 
 

City of Fayette: Board of Aldermen Meeting Minutes, July 23, 2024 

DISCUSSION AND/OR APPROVAL OF BUILDING INSPECTOR CONTRACT 

Alderwoman Gerlt commented that the contract for new building inspector, Angie Malone was not 

approved.  

Alderwoman Ishmael motioned to approve the building inspector contract with Angie Malone contingent 

on the presentation of Ms. Malone’s Certificate of Insurance and training certificates.  Alderwoman 

Broadus seconded the motion.  Six voting Aye.  Nays – None.  Motion passed. 

Roll call vote:  Alderwoman Ford, Alderwoman Gerlt, Alderwoman Shiflett, Alderwoman Ishmael, 

Alderwoman O’Connell and Alderwoman Broadus. 

Alderwoman Gerlt motioned to amend the motion to add the required amount of $1,000,000.00 liability 

insurance for Ms. Malone.  Alderwoman Ford seconded the motion.  Six voting Aye.  Nays – None.  

Motion passed. 

Roll call vote:  Alderwoman Ford, Alderwoman Gerlt, Alderwoman Shiflett, Alderwoman Ishmael, 

Alderwoman O’Connell and Alderwoman Broadus. 

DISCUSSION OF UTILITY CUSTOMER DISPUTE 

Mayor Stidham shared about a customer dispute he has been having with a Utility customer. 

ADJOURNMENT 

Alderwoman Broadus motioned to adjourn at 8:33 p.m.  Alderwoman Ford seconded the motion.  Six 

voting Aye.  Nays – 0.  Motion passed. 

Respectfully submitted by: 

 

 Judith Thompson, City Clerk 

 

 

 Greg Stidham, Mayor 













Design Guidelines for 

Courthouse Square Historic District 



1

. 

I I I 

; 

5 -r 
-----: 3 a41 It* 

Ceti 1,11: tct ki i lls! ccipi

Mayor 
Kenneth O'Brian 

The Fayette Board of Aldermen 
Southwest Ward Alderman— Greg Stidham, Southwest Ward Alderman— Grafton Cook, Northwest Ward 
Alderman— D.L. Dimond, Northwest Ward Alderman— R.C. (Bobby) Robb, East Ward Alderman— Sheila Chap-
man, East Ward Alderwoman— Marquise Francis 

The Fayette Planning and Zoning Commission 
Chairman-Alan Hendrix, Vice Chairman- Lisa Lang, Secretary- Gwynn Wilder, Members— Kirk Besgrove, T.J. 
Bias, Pamela Huttsell, Regina Powell, Joey Smith, City Council Representative— R.C. Robb 

The Fayette Historic Planning Commission 
Chair— James Steele, Members- Scott Russell, Don Cullimore, Michael Stornello, Board of Aldermen Repre-
sentative— Marquise Francis, Planning and Zoning Representative— Pam Huttsell 

rielatue4eateset 

This publication was funded with the assistance of a 
Neighborhood Assistance Program Grant awarded by 
the Missouri Department of Economic Development to 
Fayette Main Street, Inc. and was developed from final 
draft copies of 'Design Guidelines for Courthouse 
Square District Fayette, Missouri' originally prepared by 
Winter and Company of Boulder, Colorado in November 
of 2005. 



Zet4.41/asetteso 
Introduction 
Historic Overview Courthouse Square Historic District 
Historic District Map 
Standards for Rehabilitation 
Planning for Your Project 
Elements of a Streetscape 
Elements of a Commercial Building 
Design Guidelines and Building Maintenance 
Streetfront Elements 
Cornices 
Windows and Transoms 
Entries and Doors 
Awnings and Canopies 
Color 
Alterations and Additions 
IdII 
Mass and Scale 
Site Design Guidelines 
Building Lighting 
Parking 
Sign Guidelines 
Mechanical Equipment and Screening Areas 
Maintenance Standards 

Resources 

Page 4 
Pages 5-6 
Page? 
Page 8 
Page 9 
Page 10 
Page 11 
Page 12 
Pages 13-14 
Page 15 
Pages 16-17 
Pages 18-19 
Page 20 
Page 21 
Page 22-23 
Page 24 
Page 25 
Page 26 
Page 27 
Page 28 
Page 29-30 
Page 31 
Page 32 

Page i 



Downtown holds special places in the hearts of many communities. This 
is especially true for downtown Fayette. Not only is the District unique in 
the city, it is a unique regional attraction. This document is an effort to 
preserve and enhance the best qualities of the downtown. Fayette resi-
dents and building owners take great pride in the downtown and the 
concentration of historic and architecturally interesting buildings. This 
document provides a guide for preserving and rehabilitating the historic 
buildings of the District. 
To encourage the preservation of historic places, the Fayette Board of 
Aldermen established by ordinance the Fayette Historic Preservation 
Commission in 2000. The Commission was charged with adopting de-
sign guidelines that would encourage and achieve historic preservation 
goals. These guidelines will then be utilized to assess the appropriate-
ness of improvements and modifications to structures within the District. 
Under city ordinance 'A certificate of appropriateness shall be required 
before the following actions affecting the exterior architectural appear-
ance of any Landmark or any structure within a Historic District may be 
undertaken: 

(1) Any construction, alteration or removal requiring a building permit 
from the City of Fayette 
(2) Any demolition in whole or in part requiring a demolition permit from 
the City of Fayette 
(3) Any construction, alteration, demolition or removal affecting a signifi-
cant exterior architectural feature or appearance as specified in the ordi-
nance designating the Landmark or Historic District 
(4) Any construction, alteration or removal involving earth disturbing 
activities that might affect archaeological resources 
(5)Any actions to correct a violation of a minimum maintenance standard. 
Retaining the historic quality of a district is important for the sake of 
historic preservation but there are also other important benefits to a 
community. 
By utilizing the guidelines in this document the Fayette Historic Preserva-
tion Commission also strives to: 
• Enhance the environmental quality. Improving and maintaining individ-
ual buildings cumulatively enhances the overall quality of the downtown 
environment. 

0,Ada. 

The quality of the individual stores in a downtown is very important but 
the overall environment should attract people to the District. The down-
town should be perceived as a district in which people want to spend 
time both shopping and exploring. 
• Improve the economic potential. Heritage tourism and the attraction of 
unique commercial districts are becoming more and more attractive to 
local and regional markets. Establishing a quality environment will attract 
both visitors and new businesses. 
Downtown Fayette's proximity to the Columbia market offers great op-
portunities. Visitors, looking for single-day outings to interesting destina-
tions are an important economic opportunities for the District. 
• Strengthen property values. The stabilization and improvement 
of properly values benefits everyone in the city. The buildings in the 
downtown district account for a significant portion of the city's overall 
properly valuation. Stabilizing the property values in this district is a 
benefit to building owners, but also the entire city's tax base. 



The Fayette Courthouse Square Historic District consists of more than 
forty buildings, of which the majority contribute to the historic architec-
tural qualities and historic associations of the District, The construction 
dates of the contributing buildings range from ca. 1828 to 1925. Al-
though alterations to the storefronts of the contributing buildings have 
occurred within the District, overall, the area maintains its integrity, de-
sign, setting, materials, and workmanship. 

Located in Howard County, Fayette was incorporated in November 1826 
(reincorporated in 1830) and has served as the county seat beginning in 
1823. Howard County, the sixth county organized in the Missouri Terri-
tory, was organized by act of The Missouri General Assembly on Janu-
ary 13, 1816 from the western portions of St. Chades and St. Louis 
Counties, two of the live original counties that comprised the Missouri 
Territory. 

At one time the county covered 22,000 square miles and included much 
of the land north of the Osage River, Now covering 463 square miles, 
twenty-nine Missouri counties, and five Iowa counties have been formed 
out of the area that was originally Howard County. Fayette is located 
approximately 117 miles cast, northeast of Kansas City and approxi-
mately 23 miles from Columbia. 

The District has a long history as a commercial and governmental center 
and the buildings reflect that use today. Because this business district 
has survived many decades, it is understandable that its commercial 
buildings show alterations, especially at the storefront level. When the 
upper stories (or in one-story buildings, the parapet), generally remain 
intact, these buildings continue to contribute to Fayette's sense of place. 

o'Clitestie atetaith at;tttiet 

All of these buildings are constructed of brick and a significant number 
feature partial facade coverings of decorative brick lintels, pressed metal 
cornices, and cast-iron columns. The majority of buildings are two sto-
ries in height and feature fiat roofs with parapets. In terms of style, the 
vast majority of these buildings were designed in various vernacular 
interpretations, some with ornamental cornice detailing that depict sec-
ondary influences, such as ltalianate, Italian Renaissance, and Roman-
esque Revival. 

The Fayette Courthouse Square District is located roughly along South 
Main and North Main, West Morrison, East Morrison, North Church, and 
West Davis Streets. The District was placed on the National Register of 
Historic Places in 1998. 

The surrounding areas shown in the District Map are not within the Na-
tional Register district but are comprised of commercial and residential 
buildings that contribute to the larger district. 



Due to its local historic designation, the Fayette Historic Preservation 
Commission is responsible for monitoring changes to properties in the 
District and providing advice and guidance on projects in the surround-
ing area. Modifications to structures should remain true to their period of 
construction, and infill structures within the downtown will follow the 
guidelines outlined later in this document, and as adopted by the Fayette 
Board of Aldermen. 

Some of the most architecturally impressive buildings around the square 
survive intact from the mid 1880's. Although most are vernacular in form, 
there are several that display a clear influence from either Italianate or 
Romanesque high-style design. In order to embellish the primary facade 
of these structures, highly decorative pressed sheet metal cornices were 
employed. These could be erected fast, using local skills and mail-order 
sheet metal, pre-stamped and shipped by rail. 

Between 1886 through the turn-of-the-century, several other brick build-
ings were constructed on or near the square. 

The erection of the Howard County Courthouse in 1887 designed in the 
Second Empire style, became the architectural and physical focal point 
of the square. Like the building period before, other notable buildings 
from this period incorporate neonate and Romanesque vocabulary into 
the primary elevations and employ the use pressed metal cornices and 
cast-iron piers to further embellish their storefronts. Construction contin-
ued at a steady pace from the start of the 20th century through the 
1920s. One to two stories in height and more austere in their overall 
design, these buildings represent the largest and last major period of 
commercial growth around the square. 

aaina,titie aietity 



Approximate limits of the 
District 

 i 53k 
• .51‘ 

, 
tf,

143-

Vt 

Givens Hall 

lust Chn-Aan 
Church 

satiate Pfi,e, 



The guidelines established in this document follow the Secretary of the 
Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation [Standards]. The standards are 
intended to be a guide to building owners, contractors and project re-
viewers prior to work being initiated. 

The Standards define rehabilitation as the act or process of making 
possible a compatible use for a property through repair, alterations, and 
additions while preserving those portions or features which convey its 
historical, cultural, or architectural values. 

The Standards for Rehabilitation are: 
1. A property will be used as it was historically or be given a new use 
that requires minimal change to its distinctive materials, features, 
spaces, and spatial relationships. 

2. The historic character of a property will be retained and preserved. 
The removal of distinctive materials or alteration of features, spaces, and 
spatial relationships that characterize a property will be avoided. 

3. Each property will be recognized as a physical record of its time, 
place, and use. Changes that create a false sense of historical develop-
ment, such as adding conjectural features or elements from other historic 
properties, will not be undertaken. 

4. Changes to a property that have acquired historic significance in their 
own right will be retained and preserved. 

5. Distinctive materials, features, finishes, and construction techniques or 
examples of craftsmanship that characterize a property will be preserved. 

6. Deteriorated historic features will be repaired rather than replaced. 
Where the severity of deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive 
feature, the new feature will match the old in design, color, texture, and, 
where possible materials, Replacement of missing features will be sub-
stantiated by documentary and physical evidence. 

7. Chemical or physical treatments, if appropriate, will be undertaken 

6' evt Rae theatitts 
using the gentlest means possible. Treatments that cause damage to 
historic materials will not be used. 

B. Archeological resources will be protected and preserved in place. If 
such resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures will be under-
taken. 

9. New additions, exterior alterations, or related new construction will 
not destroy historic materials, features, and spatial relationships that 
characterize the property. The new work will be differentiated from the 
old and will be compatible with the historic materials, features, size, 
scale, and proportion, and massing to protect the integrity of the property 
and its environment. 

10. New additions and adjacent or related new construction will be un-
dertaken in such a manner that, if removed in the future, the essential 
form and integrity of the historic property and its environment would be 
unimpaired. 



Inappropriate drawing: the scale and character are not 
clearly conveyed, nor are there any dimensions 

The first step in planning a preservation project is to identify any signifi-
cant features and materials. Retaining such details will greatly enhance 
the overall quality of the preservation project. If these features and mate-
rials are in good condition, then selecting an appropriate treatment 
mechanism will provide for proper preservation. In making the selection 
follow this sequence: 

1.If a feature is intact and in good condition, maintain it as such. 
alf the feature is deteriorated or damaged, repair it to a sound condition. 
3.If it is not feasible to repair the feature, then replace it with one that is 
the same or similar in character (materials, detail, finish) to the original 
one. Replace only that portion that is beyond repair. 
4.Ifthe feature is missing entirely, reconstruct it from appropriate evi-
dence. 
5. If a new feature or addition is necessary, design it in such a way as to 
minimize the impact on original features. 
One of the biggest questions for building owners when considering work 
on their building is 'where to begin? 

Appropriate drawing: while in free-hand, this drawing does 
adequately convey the scale and character of the proposed 
work. 

This section is designed to provide general assistance in the process of 
working on historic structures. 

A cursory evaluation of existing street side facades should be performed. 
After initial evaluation, a more detailed exam of an individual building 
should provide a historic summary of the building, but more importantly it 
should lay the ground work for the project approach. In addition to pro-
viding base information on the historic context of the building, the report 
should: 

• Evaluate Existing Conditions. The report should inventory the existing 
condition of the building and relate it back to treatment types. Most im-
portantly it should answer the questions 'what needs attention and why". 
• Work Description. A description of what work would be needed to stabi-
lize the building, meet specific treatment types, and most importantly 
what will be needed to accomplish the owner's goals. 
• Prioritizing Projects. Often a building has more projects than an owner 
can finance. 

Appropriate drawing: mechanically drafted to scale, this 
drawing best conveys the character of the proposed work. 

alma, 7ete,t li ved 

Understanding the priority of projects can put the investment to best use. 
Critical projects should be done first with more cosmetic projects waiting 
until last. 

Set a Budget 
Once the building owner decides what projects have to be completed 
first, a budget should be established. The building assessment and 
budget could drive the treatment type selected by the owner. Treatment 
type is very important and should be considered throughout the assess-
ment and budgeting process. 

Apply the Design Guidelines 
The design guidelines outlined in this document are established to assist 
building owners who bring projects before the Fayette Historic Preserva-
tion Commission. In addition, the Historic Preservation Commission can 
provide important guidance to projects that do not require a Certificate of 
Approval. By applying the guidelines in this document, the Commission 
and City strive to promote and preserve the historic character of the 
District. 



Lit\ oi Lavcuc 

Prominent building usually 
at the corner of the block 

PJlre"nrePSY 

Zero lot lines mean common walls and few 
free-standing buildings 

fl ltififfift HEIL 
i ifig,ifi 

..../ ..-------aLarge, recessed double door 
storefront entries 

The historic district represents a collection of well-crafted, vernacular 
one, two- and three-story masonry commercial buildings, some with 
stylistic influences of the ltalianate, Italian Renaissance, and Roman-
esque Revival as well as examples of the Federal, Second Empire, Neo-
Classical, and Mission styles. 

While some of the buildings of the District have expedenced storefront 
alterations, overall, the historic district retains its integrity of design, 
setting, materials, workmanship and location. 

The buildings and elements of the streetscape create the character of 
any district. 

The zero lot lines in the downtown means that the relationship of build-
ings to each other and to the streetscape is very important to the ap-
pearance of the downtown. 

Ornate cornices provide 
continuity between 

buildings 

CIFF
TisTrefr 

Tall, nar ow, regularly spaced upper windows are 
smaller and create a rhythm in the architecture 

Buildings of mixed influence are common. In particular, with commercial 
buildings the means and desires of the building owner, the available 
building materials, and the skills of the local builders may have had a 
more direct influence on the design of a building than any recognized 
architectural style. It is commonly the ornament of a particular style, and 
not the undedying design philosophy, that is copied and applied to a 
small town building's major facade. 

Therefore, while identifying the influence of various architectural styles as 
they were applied to the facades of these buildings is helpful in gaining 
an understanding of this resource, of greater importance is the urban 
pattern of the district, the massing and materials of the buildings, and 
their substantial intactness. The buildings of this district share a common 
material, brick, and a common massing and land use. They stand at the 
physical and symbolic center of the town, enclosing the beautiful town 
square and housing the major commercial and civic functions of the 
town. 

Flat roofs are common 
in the District 

eiestor66 Area(a c5fereettel ee 

Commercial building types within the District share a basic boxlike form. 
They are rectangular in plan with load-bearing masonry walls. 

Facades and sidewalls are rectangular and roofs are flat, Individual 
buildings are attached, often sharing interior sidewalls. At streetside a 
continuous facade line is created with each building being set at the 
sidewalk edge. The width and depth of these buildings has been pre-
scribed by the dimensions of the lots and properties. 

Property owners should review these descriplions carefully. The prop-
erty owner is encouraged to refer to detailing from the existing architec-
tural styles within the District in analyzing the overall historic character 
of his/her building, as well as distinguishing its character-defining fea-
tures. Ultimately, this should aid the property owner in choosing an ap-
propriate design solution for any proposed work. 



stew.* Art(A, eAtinettetatatay 
Historic Square District buildings in Fayette range from one to three 
story structures. Most of the buildings are two-story structures that can 
be visually separated into three horizontal sections: 

• The mostly glass street level storefront 
• The upper stories, which are distinguished by the window style. 
• The cornice or parapet that crowns the building. 

Window Header or Lintel 

Midbelt or Storefront 
Cornice 

Awning 

Transom Windows 

Display Windows 

Recessed Storefront Entries 

Column or Masonry Pilaster 

Decorative Bulkhead 

Typical Building Elements Common Courthouse Square Details 



Psi?", gatieteetataiaar  ffiatatenser 
The following design guidelines for historic buildings apply to all contrib-
uting properties in the Courthouse Historic Square District. A basic tenet 
of preservation is that intervention in the historic building should be 
minimized, therefore, in the treatment of a historic building it is best to 
preserve those features that remain in good condition. For those that 
are deteriorated, repairtrather than replacement is preferred. When 
replacement is necessary, it should be done in a manner similar to that 
used historically. In this way, the original building fabric will be pre-
served to the greatest extent possible. This is important in maintaining 
the integrity of the property. 

Historic features, including original materials, architectural details, as 
well as window and door openings, contribute to the character of a struc-
ture and should be preserved when feasible. Continued maintenance is 
the best preservation method. When required, repair or replacement 
should not destroy the distinguishing qualities or character of the prop-
erty and its environment. 

While restoration of original features is preferred alternative, in-kind 
replacement is also an option. In the event replacement is necessary, 
the new material should match that being replaced in design, color, 
texture and other visual qualities. Replacement should only occur if the 
existing historic material cannot be reasonably repaired. 

General Considerations 
The Standards lay out guidelines for rehabilitating existing historic store-
fronts. The guidelines are not intended to limit the use of a structure, 
rather, to establish minimum standards for maintaining the historic char-
acter of the facade. 

Priorities: 

Preserve... 

Repair.... 

Replace... 

1. Become familiar with the style of a building and the role of the store-
front in the overall design. 
• Do not attempt to incorporate detailing from an earlier period than 

which the building was constructed. Alterations to create an earlier 
appearance shall be discouraged. 

Designs for additions and replacements shall be compatible with the 
size, scale, color, material, and character of the existing building and 
neighborhood. 
• Avoid stock lumberyard' detailing (steel doors, fake brick or stone 

panels, wood shakes, etc.) (Image 1) 

2. Preserve the building's character even though there is a new use on 
the interior. If less exposed window area is desirable, consider other 
options such as blinds instead of altering the existing building elements. 
Design solutions shall preserve the integrity and appearance of an indi-
vidual structure in relation to its immediate neighbors and in the context 
of the Historic District. 

3. Avoid use of materials that were unavailable when the building was 
constructed. For Fayette this includes: 
• vinyl and aluminum siding 
• anodized aluminum (Image 2) 
• mirrored or tinted glasses 
• artificial stone 

Features in good condition 

With like materials and methods 

With materials and details similar to the 

historic character 

4. Choose paint colors based on the building's historical appearance. In 
general: 
• Do not paint surfaces that have never been painted 
• Generally, brick that was not painted historically should remain 

unpainted. 
• Masonry naturally has a water-protective layer, or patina, to 

protect it from the elements. Painting masonry walls can seal in 
moisture already in the masonry, thereby not allowing it to 
breathe and causing extensive damage over the years. 

• Painting of unpainted brick, unless it is mismatched or so dete-
riorated that it cannot withstand weather, is not appropriate. 

• When contrasting colors are appropriate, avoid too many colors on 
a single facade. 

5. Rehabilitation work should retain distinguishing qualifies and architec-
tural features. 

Inappropriate Building Alterations 

Ii 



Set 4#0a e " 
Storefronts 
Storefronts in the Historic District possess components that were tradi-
tionally seen on commercial buildings. The repetition of these standard 
elements creates a visual unity on the street that should be preserved. 

Recommendations 
Traditional storefronts used as much glass as possible, making the 
business transparent and goods visible to the pedestrian. Work on a 
storefront will identify, retain, preserve, or restore features such as: 

• Door: Preserve the historic character size and location of the 
entrance door. 

• Display Windows: The main portion of glass on the storefront, 
where goods and services are displayed. Preserve the size, con-
figuration, and material. 

• Transom: The upper portion of display, separated from the main 
display window by a frame. Preserve size and location. 

• Kickplate: Found beneath the display window. Sometimes called 
the bulkhead panel. 

• Columns or Pilasters: Usually brick or metal (cast iron) that support 
the storefront framing, the recessed entry, the storefront glass and 
the transom above. 

• Sign locations: Preserve sign locations when the building detailing 
accommodates a specific location. 

Display Windows Kickplate or Bulkhead Transom Windows 



c5fetut(Arted Sneer 

Storefronts -Not Recommended 
• Removing or altering the storefront from its historic character 
• Moving the entrance 
• Removing historic materials from the storefront 
• Oversized and/or lighted signage 
• Adding details that do not fit the original time period of the building-

For the District this would include: 
• faux stone or brick materials 
• stucco 
• wood paneling 
• small paned windows 
• filled windows 
• removed or covered cornices, panels, or columns 

• Using replacement or substitute materials that do not convey the 
same appearance as other, original aspects of the building 

Filled Windows Covered Transom IReplacement Materials 'Faux Stone Panel Covered Midcourse' 



Cornices- General Considerations 
When you look to the top of many Fayelie Historic Courthouse District 
buildings you will see their decorative cornices. These ornamental 
features are what make the buildings distinctive and should be pre-
served or restored. 

Recommendations 
Preserve the character of the cornice and mid-belt cornice line. 
• Most historic commercial buildings have cornices to cap their 

facades. Their repetition along the street contributes to the visual 
continuity on the block. 

• Brick, stone, or metal cornices should not be altered or removed 
• Missing sections or parts should replicate the existing material 

and design 
• A straight or stepped parapet may be appropriate. 

Reconstruct a missing cornice when historic evidence is available. 
• Use historic photographs to determine design details of the origi-

nal cornice. 

Simplified Interpretation 

• The substitution of another old cornice for the original may be 
considered, provided that the substitute is similar to the original. 

• A simplified interpretation is also appropriate for a replacement 
cornice if evidence of the original is missing. 

• Appropriate materials include stone, brick and stamped metal. 

Appropriate Preservation of Character and Material 



ifieelese 

Windows and Transoms 
Original windows are important features that help convey the eady char-
acter of a building. The size and shape of original windows are important 
characteristics that contribute to the integrity of historic commercial 
buildings. These elements should be preserved, when feasible. 

Recommendations 
Maintain historically significant windows. 
• Preserve glass, sash, hardware, and window surrounds (lintel or 

decorative window hoods). 
• When necessary, replacement windows should match the historic 

window in size, style, material, dimension, sight line, number of 
panes and should fill the historic opening. 

• When these elements have already been altered, consider restor-
ing them. 

Retain the original shape of the transom glass in historic storefronts. 
• Transoms, the upper glass band of traditional storefronts, intro-

duced light into the depths of the building, saving on light costs. 
• The shape of the transom is important to the proportion of the 

Retain Transom 

storefront, and it should be preserved in its historic configuration 
whenever possible. 

• If the original glass is missing, installing new glass is strongly 
preferred. However, if the transom must be blocked out, be certain 
to retain the original proportions. One option might be to use it as a 
sign panel or decorative band. 

Preserve historic upper story windows. 
• Re-establish closed windows. When second story is not in use, 

curtains or blinds should be used instead of enclosing windows. 
• Historically, upper-story windows had a vertical emphasis. The 

proportions of these windows contribute to the character of each 
commercial storefront. 

• Maintain the historic sash and wood trim as well. Repair sash 
rather than replace it when feasible. 

Repair wood features by patching, piecing-in, consolidating or otherwise 
reinforcing the wood. 
• Avoid the removal of damaged wood that can be repaired. 
• If portions of wood siding must be replaced, be sure to match the 

style and lap dimensions of the original. 

Maintain window proportion 

New Construction 
Upper-story windows with vertical emphasis are encouraged. 
• Windows should align with others in a block. Windows, lintels and 

their trim elements should align with those on adjacent historic 
buildings. 

Windows should be trimmed with wood, painted metal or anodized 
aluminum. 
• This trim should have a dimension similar to that used historically. 

Window dimensions that are similar to those used traditionally are 
encouraged. 
• The dividing frame elements, or muntins, in a window should be 

similar in dimension to those used traditionally. 

The ratio of solid-to-void should be similar to that seen traditionally on 
commercial storefront buildings in the district. 
• First floors should be more transparent than upper floors. 
• Upper floors should appear more solid than first floors. 

Preservation of the lintel 



faindria., 

Windows and Transoms-Not Recommended 
• Altering the size of window panes or sash. Such changes nega-

tively affects the scale and proportion of the building. 
• Removal of upper transoms or infill with non-glass materials. 
• Boarding-up, bricking-in, or other ilia of historic openings. 
• Alteration of window opening proportion. 
• Glazing and replacement sashes that are not compafible with 

historic window size, configuration, or proportion. 
• Adding shutters. 
• Reflective and/or dark tinted glass. 
• Partially enclosing an original window opening. 
• Removing historic materials suck as wood, cast iron, and decora-

tive lintels. 

Do not infill historic openings Avoid partially enclosing window opening Avoid infilling historic pro-
portioned openings 



eritiee 4estii29,414e 

The repetition of recessed entdes provides a rhythm of shadows along 
the street that helps establish a sense of scale and identifies business 
entrances. This pattern should be maintained. Maintain historically 
significant doors. 
Recommendations 
• The size and shape of odginal doors are important historic charac-

teristics that contdbute to the integdty of historic commercial build-
ings. 

• Use odginal doors and door hardware when they can be repaired 
and reused in place. Do not "discard" the original doors and door 
hardware when they cannot be repaired. 

• Multiple storefront within the same building entries should look 
alike. 

• Second floor entries should be to the side. 
• If these elements have already been altered, consider restoring 

them if their original condition can be determined. 

When replacement is necessary, use a door style that is found on similar 
storefronts in the area. 
• A wood door with an open glass panel is appropriate on most 

styles. The glass should make up at least two-thirds of the door. 
• The original doorway configuration should be preserved in any 

situation. 

-w-6-0-a-door with glass 

Maintain recessed entries where they are found. 
• The repetition of recessed entries provides a rhythm of shadows 

along the street, which helps establish a sense of scale. 
• These recessed entries were designed to provide protection from 

the weather and the repeated rhythm of these shaded areas along 
the street helps to identify business entrances. Typically, recessed 
entries were set back between three to five feet. 

• Restore the historic recessed entry if it has been altered. 

Kickplate or Bulkhead 
Retain the bulkhead as a decorative panel. 
• The bulkhead, located below the display window, adds interesting 

detail to the streetscape and should be preserved. 
• If the original bulkhead is covered with another material, consider 

exposing the original design. 

If the original bulkhead is missing, develop a sympathetic replacement 
design. 
• Wood is an appropriate material for replacements on most styles. 

However, ceramic tile and masonry may also be considered when 
appropriately used with the building style. 

New Construction 
Building entrances should appear similar to those used historically in 
the block. 
• Cleady define the primary entrance with an awning, canopy or 

other architectural or landscape feature. 
• A contemporary interpretation of a traditional building entry, which 

is similar in scale and overall character to those seen historically, 
is encouraged. 

• Building entrances should be recessed. 
• Clearly define primary entrances. 

Locate the primary building entrance to face the street. 
• The building entrance should be recessed. 
• A primary building entrance also should be at or near street level. 

A sunken terrace entrance is not appropriate as the primary ac-
cess from the street. 

Doors should be trimmed with wood, painted metal or anodized alumi-
num. 
• This trim should have a dimension similar to that used historically. 

Maintain original pilasters Maintain recessed entries Appropriate bulkhead 



eetetied-anisase.to 

Entries and Doors-Not Recommended 
• Removing or altering entrances in a way that diminishes the his-

toric character of the building. 
• Doors that are flush with the sidewalk. 
• Cutting new entrances in the primary elevation. 
• Replacement material that does not match surviving details or 

appropriate style. 
• Not properiy maintaining materials. 
• Use of storm doors should be limited and when used should not 

limit the transparency of the facade and should match the historic 
style of the entrance. 

Avoid doors that are 
Mirk ..,k -k 

Avoid using solid infill materials K
at commercial C111.11C3 

Avoid materials that do 
IIUL HIULLI I bUI mu% UCLCILlb 



71.40Itert Ata.sieszairied 

Historically, awnings and canopies were noteworthy features of buildings • 
in the historic district and their continued use is encouraged. 

Recommendafions 
A fabric awning is encouraged. 
• Operable awnings are encouraged on historic buildings. 
• Use colors that are compatible with the overall color scheme of the 

façade. Solid colors or simple, muted-stripe patterns are appropri- • 
ate. • 

• The awning should fit the opening of the building. 
• Simple shed shapes are appropriate for rectangular openings. 
• Instances where they can be utilized to conceal inappropriate 

alterations to a storefront. 

A fixed metal canopy may be considered where evidence demonstrates 
that one existed historically. 
• Appropriate supporting mechanisms are wall mounted brackets, 

chains and posts. 

Mount an awning or canopy to accentuate character -defining features. 

Not 

It should be mounted to highlight moldings that may be found 
above the storefront and should not hide character-defining fea-
tures. 
Its mounting should not damage significant features and historic 
details. 

Recommended 
Awnings that do not match the shape of the opening. 
Odd shapes, bullnose awnings and bubble awnings are inappropri-
ate on most historic structures. 
A rigid awning or canopy that is permanently attached to the build-
ing front and out of character of the building style is inappropriate. 
Canopies that enclose the walkway. 
Backlit awnings. 
Large awnings that dominate the store front and hide distinguishing 
features. 
Awnings that conceal architectural details such as decorative lin-
tels. 
Metal stock awnings 

Simple colors and patterns are appropriate I — Separated canopies avoid dominating the facade 

Avoid awnings that do not 
match the shape of the 
opening 

Metal canopies should 
not be used 



ces, 
Color 
General Considerations 
Paint color can greatly enhance the historic feel of a building. The use of 
multiple, appropriate colors can provide additional character and appeal 
throughout a district. A paint color or pattern should have continuity with 
the district and not create a visual distraction. Brick and stone elements 
like headers and sills should be kept unpainted and cleaned. 

Recommendations 
• Perform a paint analysis to determine the historic paint colors. 
• Use colors that are historically appropriate and compatible with the 

building and surrounding structures. 
• Use contrasting colors a shade lighter or darker on the doors, 

windows frames, molding, and cornices when appropriate. 
• Colors should emphasize details; avoiding dark colors that obscure 

details and use gloss or semi-gloss paint for easy cleaning. 

Appropriate color combinations 

Not Recommended 
• Painting brick that has never been painted. 
• Using more than two to three tones. 
• Primary colors should not be used on the entire building or store-

front. 
• Avoid bright hues, utilize natural tones. 

Avoid painting originally un-
painted brick; maintain continuity 

between lower and upper floors 

Appropriate neutral hues 

Bright, bold colors are 
inappropriate 

sc Scut I I ic Di strict 



rfS14,101.14,S4 

Design of Alterations 
• Alterations may be considered for histodc buildings; however, 

these alterations should occur in a manner that will not affect the 
historic integrity of the property and should be reversible for future 
property owners. When new building does occur, or an existing 
structure is altered, it should be in a manner that reinforces the 
basic character-defining features of the area. 

Recommendations 
Design an alteration to be compatible with the historic character of the 
property. 
• Avoid alterations that would hinder the ability to interpret the design 

character of the original building. 
• Alterations that seek to imply an eadier pedod than that of the 

building are inappropriate. 
Avoid alterations that would damage histodc features. 
• For example, mounting a slgn panel in a manner that causes deco-

rative moldings to be chipped or removed would be inappropriate. 

A roof-top addition 
should be set back 
from any primary, 
character defining 

Additions to Historic Buildings-General Considerations 
There are times when expansion is necessary to meet current demands 
and uses of a historic building. An addition should be considered only 
after it has been determined that the use cannot be met by altedng non-
significant, or secondary, intedor spaces. An addition should be compati-
ble in scale, matedals and character with the main building. The addition 
should preserve histodcal features and character of the original building. 
• The addition should be subtly distinguishable in its design from the 

historic portion and have simplified details. 
• Size, scale and proportion. The height and width should not exceed 

the historic property. 
• Shape and mass. Roof shapes and pitch should be similar and the 

addition should not overwhelm the historic building. 
• Windows and doors. They should have a similar size, shape, scale, 

and proportion to the original building. 
• Floor-to-floor height. Traditional and compatible materials should 

be utilized and should not draw attention away from the historic 
structure. 

• An addition should be set back from any primary, character-
defining facade. 

• Place the addition on a non-character-defining elevation. 
• A roof-top addition should be set back, to preserve the perception 

of the historic scale of the building. 
• A roof-top addition shall be simple in design to prevent it from 

competing with the primary facade. 

Place the addition on a 
non-character defining 
elevation 



atateeemadriaand 

Alterations and Additions- Not Recommended 
• Additions should not conceal, obscure, damage or destroy charac-

ter defining features. 
• Construction of a rooftop addition that radically changes the his-

toric appearance of the original building. 
• The height and width should not exceed the historic building. 
• An addition with a pitched roof is inappropriate. 

Floor to floor height should 
be similar 

E 
7 

Windows and doors should 
have a similar size, shape, 

and proportion 

0 0 0 

0001:10 

Roof shape and proportion 
should be similar 

Dal DLO 
INNIIIMMEMIME 

mu 

Size, scale, and proportion 
should be similar 



of UN [IC 

Inn- General Considerations 
Currently within Fayette's Downtown Historic District there are no vacant 
lots. However, new construction may occur with the demolition and 
construction of new buildings. There are also several infill opportunities 
just outside the Historic District's boundary. When new building does 
occur, or an existing structure is altered, it should be in a manner that 
reinforces the basic character-defining features of the area. Such fea-
tures include the way in which a building is located on its site, the man-
ner in which It faces the street, its materials and the general alignment of 
architectural elements and details along a block. When these design 
variables are arranged in a new building to be similar to those seen 
traditionally in the area, visual compatibility results. 

Recommendations 
• Reconstruction, Restoration, and Renovation of a historic structure 

should follow the guidelines specified in the Secretary of the Inte-
riors Standards. 

• A new design that draws upon the fundamental similarities among 
older buildings in the area without copying them is preferred. This 

will allow it to be seen as a product of its own time and yet be com-
patible with its historic neighbors. The literal imitation of older his-
toric styles is discouraged. 

• The composition of the facade, or the organization of its pads, 
should be similar to surrounding buildings. 

• Rhythms, such as window spacing, that are carried throughout a 
block should be maintained. 

• Detailing from surrounding buildings should be reflected in the new 
building, including window shapes, cornice lines, and brick work. 

• Building material should be similar to the District. 
• Masonry was the traditional material and is preferred for new 

construction. This includes stone and brick. 
• Wood and metal were used for window, door and storefront 

surrounds and should be continued in new construction. 
• New materials may be considered, but they should appear simi-

lar in character to those used traditionally in the District. For 
instance, brick should be similar in size to that used historically, 
cast stone and concrete should be detailed to provide a human 
scale. 

Contemporary interpretations of traditional 
building elements are encouraged. 

• New materials should have a demonstrated durability. For 
example, some facade materials used in new construction are 
more susceptible to weather and simply do not last as long as 
stone or brick. 

Develop the ground floor level of a project to encourage pedestrian 
activity. Entries should be recessed and consistent with the character of 
the District. 
• Provide at least one of the following along primary pedestrian 

ways: 
• A storefront. 
• Display cases. 
• Public art. 
• Landscaping. 
• Decorative wall surfaces. 
• Include traditional elements such as display windows, bulk-

heads and transoms on commercial storefronts. 
• Avoid a blank wall or vacant lot appearance. 

I V  

Materials should appear similar 
to those used historically. 



Aes.4.5:04 
Mass and Scale 
Building heights are consistenfly within the same range: from two to 
three stories in height. Although a few institutional structures (e.g., the 
courthouse and surrounding churches) may reach greater heights, these 
are the exceptions. Building features—such as storefronts, windows and 
cornices—also align along the block, which contribute to a perceived 
uniformity in height to pedestrians. The dominant scale of two to three 
stories should be maintained. This may be accomplished by literally 
constructing a building within this traditional height range; in other cases, 
where a larger structure is needed, taller portions may be set back. 

Recommendations 
• Historically, most buildings were two and three stories in height, 

although some smaller, one story buildings existed. New buildings 
should reflect this range. 

• Develop a primary facade that is in scale and alignment with sur-
rounding historic buildings. The proportion, size of windows and 
transparency of a building should be similar to surrounding struc-
tures. 

Consider dividing larger 
buildings into "modules". 

• If a building must be taller, consider stepping upper stories back 
from the main facade, or design the lower levels to express the 
alignment of elements seen traditionally in the block. 

• Also consider stepping the mass of a tall building down to a lower 
height as it approaches smaller historic buildings or the alley. 

• Historically, buildings were built in 20-foot increments. New build-
ings should reflect this pattern. 

• If a larger building is divided into multiple 'modules,' these should 
be expressed three dimensionally, throughout the entire building, 
including the roof. 

• A new building should maintain the alignment of horizontal ele-
ments along the block. 

• This alignment occurs because many of the buildings are similar 
in height. 

• Window sills, moldings and cornices are among those elements 
that may be seen to align. 

• The main floor of a building should align with those of historic prop-
erties. 

• Floor-to-floor heights should appear to be similar to those seen 
historically in the block. 

Historically, most buildings were one, 
two, and three stories in height. 



Site Plan Guidelines 
Most structures in the Historic District contribute to a strong 'building 
wall" along the street because they align at the front lot line and are 
usually built out to the full width of the parcel, to the side lot lines. Al-
though small gaps do occur between some structures, these are excep-
tions. These site plan characteristics should be preserved. 

Recommendations 
Maintain the alignment of buildings at the sidewalk edge. 
• Locate the front building wall at the sidewalk line when feasible. 
• Where a building must be set back from the sidewalk, use land-

scape elements to define the sidewalk edge. 

Orient the primary entrance of a building toward the street. 
• A building should have a dearly defined primary entrance. For 

most commercial buildings, this should be a recessed entrymy. 
• A secondary public entrance to commercial spaces is also encour-

aged on a larger building. 

Setback at street level is 
discouraged. 

Align the building front at 
the sidewalk edge. 

Respect the town grid in new construction. 
• Orient a new building parallel to its lot lines, in a manner similar to 

historic building orientation, not at an angle. 
• Orient the primary facade toward the street. 

Public Outdoor Spaces 
• Improved public outdoor spaces should be encouraged through the 

creation of eating and seating areas. 

Landscaping 
Landscaping in the downtown enhances the pedestrian experience and 
its continued use is encouraged. 

Recommendations 
Landscaping is encouraged where space allows. 
• Landscape features such as parks, gardens, street lights, signs, 

benches, and walkways that have traditionally linked buildings to 
their environment should be retained. 

• Storefronts should continue to define the sidewalk edge. 

Improved outdoor public spaces are 
encouraged. 

6:* ge des. 
Planting trees is encouraged. 
• Existing trees should be preserved, when feasible. 
• When an existing street tree dies, it should be replaced in kind. 

Using new trees, plants, flowers and shrubbery that are well adapted to 
the Missouri climate is encouraged. 
• While a wide variety of plants can grow in the Missouri climate, 

those that are better adapted and that require less water are 
preferred. 

Landscape enhances the pedestrian 
experience and is encouraged 



Building Lighting 
The character and level of lighting that is used on a building is a special 
concern. Traditionally, the exterior lights were simple in character and 
were used to highlight signs, entrances and first floor details. Most fix-
tures had incandescent lamps that cast a color similar to daylight, were 
relatively low in intensity and were shielded with simple shade devices. 
Although new lamp types may be considered, the overall effect of mod-
est, focused building light should be continued. 

Recommendations 
Use lighting for the following: 
• To accent architectural details. 
• To accent buffing entrances. 
• To accent signs. 
• To illuminate sidewalks. 

Use lighting as it was used historically in the district. 

• Detailing and materials should be compatible with the character 
and style of the building. 

• Shielded lighting is preferred. 
• Lighting should not dominate a facade or the street. 

Minimize the visual impacts of site and architectural lighting. 
• All exterior light sources should have a low level of luminescence, 

yet achieve a safe level of illumination for pedestrian safety. 
• Lights that cast a color similar to daylight are preferred. 
• Lighting fixtures should be appropriate to the building and its sur-

roundings in terms of style, scale and intensity of illumination. 
• If accent or facade lighting is desired, a comprehensive lighting 

design for the building should be done by a professional lighting 
designer 

Prevent glare by using shielded and focused light sources. 
• Provide shielded and focused tight sources that direct light down-

Seat ceritAter

ward. Preserve dark skies. 
• Shield lighting associated with service areas, parking lots and 

parking structures. 
• If accent or facade lighting is desired, a comprehensive lighting design for 

the building should be done by a professional lighting designer 

Not Recommended 
• Washing the entire facade with light is inappropriate. 
• Florescent lighting 
• Lighting that conceals any architectural feature 
• Unshielded, high intensity light sources and those that direct light 

upward should not be permitted. 



72f.446:y 

• 
01-'4% 

Ire 11 40110. 
!prettmnionra 

S 
tS 

III I 

SIIIuu 

Perking located 
to the side of the 

—building — 

0=1 
Street 

ndscape 
Buffer 

11 •ufl
SSW 
••••1" 
I OMB 
11111•11 

I 111111111:. :UI s new 
III ORO Wilt 

rum' 
liii 

 II

" Olaf 

Display windows 
face the street 
and parking,. 

• 

Entry pl 
no parking 
In front 

Screen off street parking areas from view from the street. 

Parking 
Automobiles have been a part of the scene for many years, Historically, 
however, they were a secondary feature in the street scene. Today, their 
visual impacts should be minimized, to enable one to perceive the his-
toric character of the street. 

Recommendations 
Minimize visual impacts of off-street parking, as seen from the public 
way. 
• Screen the edges of parking lots with planted areas, decorative 

paving, fences, hedges and decorative walls. 
• When landscaping at the sidewalk edge use at least a five foot 

deep plant bed. This will provide a good buffer for pedestrians. 
• Using a low brick wall may also be an appropriate solution. 
• Landscaping the interior of a parking lot is encouraged. 

Large areas of off-street parking are discouraged in the Historic District. 
• Minimize the number of new curb cuts. 

Screen the edges of off street parking with planted areas. 

• When possible shared parking should be encouraged. 
• Where appropriate, design a parking area to be accessed from an 

alley rather than the street. 

Locate parking such that it will be subordinate to other site features. 
• An on-site parking area should be located inside or behind a build-

ing, where its visual impact will be minimized. 
• Minimize the surface area of paving and consider using less imper-

vious material such as modular pavers. 

Not Recommended 
• Off-street parking shall not be located in front of buildings or at 

comer nodes along Main Street. 



I I I ' 1 ill AO 0 I 11 

II r 

Iii4J
I 

  ca
The overall façade composition including 
details and signs should be coordinated. 

Signs painted on storefront glass 
are appropriate. 

Sign Context 
A sign typically serves two functions: first, to attract attention; and, sec-
ond, to convey information, essenfially identifying the business or ser-
vices offered within. If it is well designed, the building front alone can 
serve the attention-getting function, allowing the sign to be focused on 
conveying information in a well conceived manner. All new signs should 
be developed with the overall context of the building and of the district in 
mind. Signage should complement and not compete with the character 
of the building and the downtown in general. Signage should be evalu-
ated based on design, location, type, material, lighting and size. 

Recommendations 
• Coordinate the overall facade composition, including ornamental 

details and signs. 
• A sign should be in proportion to the building, such that it does not 

dominate the appearance. 
• Simple sign designs are preferred. 
• Develop a master sign plan for the entire building; this should be 

Projecting signs may be considered. 

used to guide individual sign design decisions. 

A sign should be subordinate to the overall building composition. 
Appropriate Locations: 

• On an historic building a sign should not obscure architectural 
details or features. 

• Storefront lintel or transom area. 
• If lintel is not applicable then signage should be on a flat un-

adorned part of the façade. 
• Painted directly on the glass of the storefront 
• On awnings. 

• New murals and other artwork of a non-commercial nature shall be 
sympathetic to the districts character. 

Appropriate Sign Types 
Flush-mounted wall signs may be considered. 
• A flush-mounted wall sign should be positioned just above the 

c..5;,or 'at/ 

display window. 
• When feasible, place a wall sign such that it aligns with others on 

the block. 

Projecting signs may be considered. 
• A projecting sign should be located near the business entrance 

just above the door or to the side of it. 
• Note that other approvals may be required to allow a sign to over-

hang the public right-of-way. 

A window sign may be considered. 
• A window sign may be painted on a window or hung just inside a 

window. 

A directory sign may be considered. 
• Where several businesses share a building, a single panel direc-

tory is appropriate. 



gaed 

Use letter styles that are compatible with 
the historic nature of the district. 

Symbol signs add visual interest to the street. Light shall be directed at the sign from an external, 
shielded lamp. 

Sign Materials 
Sign materials should be compatible with that of the building facade. 
• Painted wood and metal are appropriate materials for signs. 

Painted signs on blank walls may be considered, however painting 
historic masonry walls that were previously unpainted is inappropriate. 

Sign Content 
Symbol signs are encouraged 

Sign Lighting 
• Indirect lighting, that which is directed at a sign from an external, 

shielded lamp, is preferred. 
• A warm light, similar to daylight, is appropriate 
• Sign lighting should also be evaluated by the building lighting crite-

ria included in this Guideline. 
• Internal illumination which backlights sign typeface may be appro-

priate. 

• 
• 

• 
• 

Flashing and movable signs. 
Lettering should not exceed 10 inches in height for a typical one-
bay storefront. This applies to letters on flush-mounted, projecting 
and window signs. Taller letters may be considered, for flush-
mounted signs only, on a larger surface area. 
Hard-to-read or overiy intricate typeface styles. 
Neon signs, unless it is existing sign that is historically significant in 
its own right. 

• Symbol signs add interest to the street, are quickly read and are • Neon and other tubular illumination types are discouraged unless 
committed to memory better than written words. Not Recommended limited such that they do not become visually obtrusive. 

• Flush mounted signs located above second-floor windows. • Internally illuminated signage for entire sign panels. 
Use colors for the sign that are compatible with those of the building • Signage that obscures architectural details. • Fasteners for hanging signs that damage masonry wall surfaces. 
front. • Window signs that cover more than twenty five percent (25%) of the • Moveable or portable signs other than sandwich boards. 
• Limit the number of colors used on a sign to three. total window area. • Roof signage. 

• Unfinished materials, including unpainted wood. 
Select letter styles and sizes that will be compatible with the building • Highly reflective materials. 
front. • Signs with mirrors, or other highly reflective surfaces. 
• Typefaces that are in keeping with those seen in the area histori-

cally are encouraged. 



1:11: 051(1 D!.101S1 pirnbs z)snotomoj 

'pelt!r lens!A sil 
qs!u!upp awn} o sewe a6wop qsaq uo saie6 6upep Jap!61100 

'ma!A wop peuaans aq moils waisdwno • 
.6u!ponq e p.180.1 aw 

Alleo!dAl 'sopa! uewsapad io[ew wog Aeme sem goons awooi 
•sewe aopues pue a6eJ0is usep p pedwIlenso 019 azpulum 

• 

• 

'apeoei wog oq uo pawdpbe Lions 6upeool ppm/ • 
'aleudwddeuis! pue mei 6ippipq opol 

-sw 019 sgewep slepalew apeoei opopq op! sieuuetp 61119n3 
•sieuwew apeoei opoisw gewep 

• 

pu !um !caw ww qons sealmas 6upipq lap pue sadppueis amen 

'wenbs aw Opel sepeoel kewpd wp015001 
aq pu !Rs Aeqj sgem Alepuooas uo spawale asap 818301 • 

.saxoq swims pue suopoauuoo kip p spedw! iens!A eqjezJwu9 

'appeal 
lupe aw 01 moo oliqnd p po pawd!nba suopeownwwoo 815001 

•sAem aqqnd wall 
elq!s!A pu aie wip sdollow uo spun leoweipew algoid-mq es 

'apeoei Mew 
-pd 9,6uppnq 841 uo spun 6qu0p!puoo mopup IOU oa 

•Akapt 11104 paudpba uawas 
'Aem ogqnd aq uo pawdwba leopeqoaw p pedpienslA az!w!um 

suopepuewwooa 

'elq!ssod JaAauaqm Pagnq aq !legs saopuas leoploale meN 

•ape5e1 kiewpd sAnpunq uo 
spun Jauompuoo momm aleool Wu 00 

Parer nyinergrarpriatafrtrar -ja 

• 

loedw! lensiA aonpai 01 pauaans pue team sue 
-upapad pue swaps wog Aeme pamool aq ppoqs sem aopuas 

'spun 6upoippuoo pe nem pue mopum 
'ssawsnq e qw• paieposse 958JOIS ap!spo 

'apuiewco 643A08.1 pue afiewee 
luawd!nba leoweqoapg 

:swaps 
aps Aue wog pauawas aq pinoqs pue wenbs aw 6upei suopenala 

apeael kewpd aw wog apps!Aaq iou pwoqs slepalew 6wmouoi aq 

'papa aq ppoqs awnosw 
opoisw Aue uo sloop aApe6au pue map\ oqqnd wall pauaans aq ppoqs 

sao!Aap amp 'apllsealillaple plea 8190j 'SUJBOU00 we asp sewe 
a6wois 6wpAow pue 08.0. TOR 011140181.05.181.10 all page lle0 jeq 

6uiplinq e oj paqoepe aq Aew Ian wawdobe p /open sqj 6uowe we 
spnpuoo pue saneo 'seo!Aap uolleownwwooam'saxoq ao!mas Aimin 

sewn awns pue pawdpb8 leopapay!! 

•mapN woij pauaalos aq iieqs sialsdwna 
•seale glemns pue qse.alo spedw! lensp‘ ay; apwnnoi 



aycns ajEni c, tot 

iwoipn e uppo 
O mau Ile qM 6upe1dei pue epow papiopep-uou 6umowa):1 • 

.kuosew o pope Wig leqoped BumowaH • 
6upeap iaiem ainssaid 46!H • 

•kwosew aqi abe 
-weP hIM eqj saoepns Amosew uo spopap 6umeal Jo 6upean • 

•samieladwai 6u!zaam io tp!ssod e 
s! amp uaqm 6upea13 JOJ sumps poiwaqo pnbq JO ialem 6u!sfl 

•salusexie 
iatip JO ip6 pm JO kip 6upn samiins auois JO lopq buqseppues • 

•uolienpapp io abewep Aue 
JO asneo aqi 6u!ssappe inopim spawaoepai JO pada! 6uppol • 

papuewwooa ION 

• 

'sum' amiamoap paiuno U aleinwnooe JO saoeiins leiuoz 
-poq 'leg 110 pueis IOU saop JOIN jBlfl os abetmeip Mold ainsu3 • 

appsod 

se amedwoo pue snonopsuoou! se aq ppoqs Amosew pameda)j 
.appd pue qumm iimot pue BJflIXBI ioloo 

luogisodwoo 'Llibuams u! mow pp aqi view ppoqs iepow marl 
Nonuaisep pabewep 

io 'gem dwep 'slop asooi 'sp!of wen 'iepow 6ipekaiu!91p 
JO mama s! wall uaqm page& aq ppoqs SpOlJellOW luuosevi 

.6upeios pueq Ame 
-nsn lop!ssod sueaw isequa6 alp q6noJql 51111 6upp pue 
Jae! punos 941 01 limed paiappapp JO pthewep 6u!Aowa8 • 

•saqsruq apspq IBJfllBU 
buisn Isiugiapp pue JOJEAk ainssaid Am se qons 'appsod se 

senbiuqoansagua6 aqi gum auop aq moo kwosew p buwean 
'elq!ssod poqiew isaRua6 all auguapp 01 auop s! 

611weap Aue mpg auop aq ppoqs sisal 6upeap amps kuosevi 
'6u11ps Way 8A0L1181 

JO uopiopalap ipq 0 auop aq Apo ppoqs FJUOSBUJ 6uwean 
.swawieam lump samnbei snqi 

PUB sa!padoid anbwn seq !claw qoe3 'slop pue sappy magi pue 

•alq!ssod powaw 
isapua2 eq auwoalap 01 pauuopad aq pi noqs sIsal Suweap Muosevi 

nWe narsarN 

• !6upipq aqi p1apemp opols!ti Ilwano ato 5uwipp pepodw! 
eJeieto sAemmeis JO 'spooq mopum 'spipeo Isuwnpo se lions 

• salmi paw pinpamqwe 6uvuasaid pue tuitmeiai '6u!Ail1ueP1 • 
•siopo pue 'saysiull 'sped magi pue :spew 

-pad Aempop pue 'magpie mopum ISMOBJCI ISOOR1100 '6UpS 
• se Lions 614131!KI atli 101810818Lp OPOISN Pen aqi 6upgap quiet 

-iodw! ale ieqi sainieal poom 6uvuasaid pue tuppiai 
suoippuawwooa 

• 

wiq zapupetiaiwoRempeqayspiepueisisaimon sau *swop 
eipqam saugapino pue spepueis mow! aquo Aiepioas 941 IISIA 

• °seep tupipq opoisp ue p iapeieqo Bill 6upuep uo uogewilimu! pap 
-ppe led) quewuomma Si! pue Apadoid atm p1910E1Elp JO samenb 6u! 

• -qspOulisIP Bill Awisap IOU ppoqs wawaoeidai JO medal ipamnbei 
•seinieal °sail p al!! 6uoi atm ainsua pue gewep mini wan 

• -aid two smiles' mu 01 aoueualupw iadoid 6uppwid aoueuaiupw 
peau Apo ieqi siPiop 6u1Isv8 611pueisino any s6u!Pl!nq opoisp Aueini 

spiepueis aoueualupol 

•uopeiopalap ale 
-Jolene pue lepalew awlo aDepos eq sapoia Apuauew 
-Jed 2uweap Jo powaw e se auois JO 13pq Supsempues 



I 31.4S IG Dp b S ti 0111.M :) 

buIllib!PooNnopotisvepfixillq :uoilePossV AS Vea puogewelul 

ply Moisquioo oweganej miwkany :eipAed uo snood 

pueismegayuoRempeyagspepueisisavnoo sou tivmwOnti :sauppinD spepuelsiopopi oq p fuepioas 

IPTSasaamosaWedpu-saupoysinwouluviamvally :seaeld oPoIsH o Jais09 leuo!leN 

P669000096Pu-8cluioatisinouounupvivNiallU 

0021WIPPS/ 

:121f1 saaeld opoisH pialsi6au puo!leN [sn] 



Drafter's Note: Deleted text is shown thus. Inserted text is shown thus. 

05-a Amending Historic Preservation Version A - All changesAmending Historic Preservation Version A - 

All changes.docx 

 

Bill No.     ____________-A 

 

Ord. No. 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 415 AND 405 OF THE CITY 

CODE REGARDING HISTORIC BUILDINGS. 

______________________________________________________________________ 

 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Aldermen of the City of Fayette, Missouri as follows: 

 

SECTION ONE:  The City Code, Chapter 415, is hereby amended by repealing Section 415.450 and 

enacting one new section in lieu thereof, to read as follows: 

 

Section 415.450 Hearing and Determination By The Historic Preservation Commission. 

[R.O. 2013 § 415.450; R.O. 2005 § 23-344; Ord. No. 00-23 § 2] 

The FHPC shall review the application for a building or demolition permit or for a certificate of 

appropriateness and issue or deny the permit within forty-five (45) thirty (30) days of receipt of 

the application.  

The FHPC shall conduct a hearing prior to making its decision.  At the hearing, the applicant will 

be entitled to be present and present evidence.  The applicant may, but is not required, to be 

represented by an attorney.  The applicant may call witnesses. 

The hearing shall be recorded by a court reporter or by a recording that is transcribed. 

 

The FHPC shall discuss and vote on the application in an open session.  The application will 

considered approved if a majority of the members present vote in favor of the approval. In 

making its decision, the FHPC shall rely on the design guidelines for the particular zone.  The 

FHPC may not consider factors not related to design or appearance. 

Written notice of the approval or denial of the application for a certificate of appropriateness shall 

be provided to the applicant and the City Administrator within seven (7) days following the 

determination and shall be accompanied by a certificate of appropriateness in the case of an 

approval. 

If the FHPC fails to act on the application within thirty (30) days the application shall be 

considered approved. 

Appeals from the decision of the FHPC may be appealed to the Circuit Court of Howard County.  

Within 30 days of the filing of such an appeal the Chairperson of the FHPC shall file with the 

Court a transcript of the hearing and a certified copy of the decision of the FHPC. 

 

SECTION TWO:  The City Code, Chapter 405, is hereby amended by adding one new section to read 



Drafter's Note: Deleted text is shown thus. Inserted text is shown thus. 

05-a Amending Historic Preservation Version A - All changesAmending Historic Preservation Version A - 

All changes.docx 

 

as follows: 

 

Section 405.310 Historic Overlay Districts 

A.  Historic Overlay Districts may be created as provided in Chapter 415 

B. Courthouse Square Historic Overlay District. 

1. Permitted uses.  All permitted uses allowed in the underlying zoning district shall be 

allowed. 

2. Conditional Uses.  All approved conditional uses in the underlying zoning district shall be 

allowed. 

3. No building within the district shall be erected, externally repaired, externally modified, 

expanded, externally altered, or demolished without a Certificate of Appropriateness issued by 

the FHPC. 

4.3.In determining whether or not to issue a Certificate of Appropriateness in this district, the 

FHPC shall be guided by Design Guidelines for the Courthouse Square Historic District.  

Such Guidelines are attached to this Chapter as Appendix 405 A.  The City Clerk shall 

maintain a copy of the guidelines at City Hall and a copy shall be published on the City Web 

site. 

SECTION THREE. The City Code Section 415.420 is hereby amended by repealing said section and 

enacting one new section in lieu thereof to read as follows: 

 

 415.420 Certificate Of Appropriateness — When Required. 

A. A certificate of appropriateness shall be required before the following actions affecting the exterior 

architectural appearance of any landmark or any structure within a historic district may be undertaken:  

1. Any construction, alteration or removal requiring a building permit from the City of Fayette. 

2. Any demolition in whole or in part requiring a demolition permit from the City of Fayette. 

3. Any construction, alteration, demolition or removal affecting a significant exterior architectural feature 

or appearance as specified in the ordinance designating the landmark or historic district. 

4. Any construction, alteration or removal involving earth-disturbing activities that might affect 

archaeological resources. 

5. Any actions to correct a violation of a minimum maintenance standard. 

5.4. 

SECTION THREE: Effective Date. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after the 

date of its passage and approval and shall remain in effect until amended or repealed by the Board of 

Aldermen. 

 

Formatted: No underline



Drafter's Note: Deleted text is shown thus. Inserted text is shown thus. 

05-a Amending Historic Preservation Version A - All changesAmending Historic Preservation Version A - 

All changes.docx 

 

Read Twice and approved by Roll Call Vote 

 

 

Dated this ______day of ____________, 2024. 

      

         

     _________________ 

     Mayor 

 

Attest: 

 

__________________________ 

Judith Thompson, City Clerk 

 

 



Drafter's Note: Deleted text is shown thus. Inserted text is shown thus. 

05-b Amending Historic Preservation Version B - Demolition onlyAmending Historic Preservation 

Version B - Demolition only.docx 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Bill No.     ____________-B 

 

Ord. No. 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 415 AND 405 OF THE CITY 

CODE REGARDING HISTORIC BUILDINGS. 

______________________________________________________________________ 

 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Aldermen of the City of Fayette, Missouri as follows: 

 

SECTION ONE:  The City Code, Chapter 415, is hereby amended by repealing Section 415.450 and 

enacting one new section in lieu thereof, to read as follows: 

 

Section 415.450 Hearing and Determination By The Historic Preservation Commission. 

[R.O. 2013 § 415.450; R.O. 2005 § 23-344; Ord. No. 00-23 § 2] 

The FHPC shall review the application for a building or demolition permit or for a certificate of 

appropriateness in any designated Historic District and issue or deny the permit within forty-five 

(45) thirty (30) days of receipt of the application.  

The FHPC shall conduct a hearing prior to making its decision.  At the hearing, the applicant will 

be entitled to be present and present evidence.  The applicant may, but is not required, to be 

represented by an attorney.  The applicant may call witnesses. 

The hearing shall be recorded by a court reporter or by a recording that is transcribed. 

The FHPC shall discuss and vote on the application in an open session.  The application will 

considered approved if a majority of the members present vote in favor of the approval. In 

making its decision, the FHPC shall rely on the design guidelines for the particular zone.  The 

FHPC may not consider factors not related to design or appearance. 

Written notice of the approval or denial of the application for a certificate of appropriateness shall 

be provided to the applicant and the City Administrator within seven (7) days following the 

determination and shall be accompanied by a certificate of appropriateness in the case of an 

approval. 

If the FHPC fails to act on the application within thirty (30) days the application shall be 

considered approved. 

Appeals from the decision of the FHPC may be appealed to the Circuit Court of Howard County.  

Within 30 days of the filing of such an appeal the Chairperson of the FHPC shall file with the 

Court a transcript of the hearing and a certified copy of the decision of the FHPC. 

SECTION TWO:  The City Code, Chapter 405, is hereby amended by adding one new section to read 

as follows: 

 

Section 405.310 Historic Overlay Districts 

Formatted: Not Strikethrough



Drafter's Note: Deleted text is shown thus. Inserted text is shown thus. 

05-b Amending Historic Preservation Version B - Demolition onlyAmending Historic Preservation 

Version B - Demolition only.docx 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

A.  Historic Overlay Districts may be created as provided in Chapter 415 

B. Courthouse Square Historic Overlay District. 

1. Permitted uses.  All permitted uses allowed in the underlying zoning district shall be 

allowed. 

2. Conditional Uses.  All approved conditional uses in the underlying zoning district shall be 

allowed. 

3. No building within the district shall be erected, externally repaired, externally modified, 

expanded, externally altered, or demolished without the approval ofa Certificate of 

Appropriateness issued by the FHPC. Any building in the district may, but shall not be 

required to, seek a Certificate of Appropriateness. The owner shall not be bound by the terms 

of the certificate. 

4.3.In determining whether or not to issue a Certificate of Appropriateness in this district, the 

FHPC shall be guided by Design Guidelines for the Courthouse Square Historic District.  

Such Guidelines are attached to this Chapter as Appendix 405 A.  The City Clerk shall 

maintain a copy of the guidelines at City Hall and a copy shall be published on the City Web 

site. 

SECTION THREE. The City Code Section 415.420 is hereby amended by repealing said section and 

enacting one new section in lieu thereof to read as follows: 

 

 415.420 Certificate Of Appropriateness — When Required. 

A. A certificate of appropriateness shall be required before the following actions affecting the 

exterior architectural appearance of any landmark or any structure within a historic district may be 

undertaken:  

1. Any construction, alteration or removal requiring a building permit from the City of Fayette. 

2. Any demolition in whole or in part requiring a demolition permit from the City of Fayette. 

3. Any construction, alteration, demolition or removal affecting a significant exterior architectural 

feature or appearance as specified in the ordinance designating the landmark or historic district. 

4. Any construction, alteration or removal involving earth-disturbing activities that might affect 

archaeological resources. 

5. Any actions to correct a violation of a minimum maintenance standard. 

12.4.  

SECTION THREE: Effective Date. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after the 

date of its passage and approval and shall remain in effect until amended or repealed by the Board of 

Aldermen. 

 

Read Twice and approved by Roll Call Vote 

 

 

Dated this ______day of ____________, 2024. 

      

         

     _________________ 

Formatted: Strikethrough



Drafter's Note: Deleted text is shown thus. Inserted text is shown thus. 

05-b Amending Historic Preservation Version B - Demolition onlyAmending Historic Preservation 

Version B - Demolition only.docx 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

     Mayor 

 

Attest: 

 

__________________________ 

Judith Thompson, City Clerk 

 

 



Drafter's Note: Deleted text is shown thus. Inserted text is shown thus. 

05-c Amending Historic Preservation Version C - VoluntaryAmending Historic Preservation Version 

A - All changes.docx 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Bill No.     ____________-C 

 

Ord. No. 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 415 AND 405 OF THE CITY 

CODE REGARDING HISTORIC BUILDINGS. 

______________________________________________________________________ 

 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Aldermen of the City of Fayette, Missouri as follows: 

 

SECTION ONE:  The City Code, Chapter 415, is hereby amended by repealing Section 415.450 and 

enacting one new section in lieu thereof, to read as follows: 

 

Section 415.450 Hearing and Determination By The Historic Preservation Commission. 

[R.O. 2013 § 415.450; R.O. 2005 § 23-344; Ord. No. 00-23 § 2] 

The FHPC shall may review the application for a building or demolition permit or for a 

certificate of appropriateness and issue or deny the permit within forty-five (45) thirty (30) days 

of receipt of the application.  

The FHPC shall conduct a hearing prior to making its decision.  At the hearing, the applicant will 

be entitled to be present and present evidence.  The applicant may, but is not required, to be 

represented by an attorney.  The applicant may call witnesses. 

The FHPC shall discuss and vote on the application in an open session.  The application will 

considered approved if a majority of the members present vote in favor of the approval. In 

making its decision, the FHPC shall rely on the design guidelines for the particular zone.  The 

FHPC may not consider factors not related to design or appearance. 

Written notice of the approval or denial of the application for a certificate of appropriateness shall 

be provided to the applicant and the City Administrator within seven (7) days following the 

determination and shall be accompanied by a certificate of appropriateness in the case of an 

approval. 

If the FHPC fails to act on the application within thirty (30) days the application shall be 

considered approved. 

SECTION TWO:  The City Code, Chapter 405, is hereby amended by adding one new section to read 

as follows: 

 

Section 405.310 Historic Overlay Districts 

A.  Historic Overlay Districts may be created as provided in Chapter 415 

B. Courthouse Square Historic Overlay District. 

1. Permitted uses.  All permitted uses allowed in the underlying zoning district shall be 

allowed. 



Drafter's Note: Deleted text is shown thus. Inserted text is shown thus. 

05-c Amending Historic Preservation Version C - VoluntaryAmending Historic Preservation Version 

A - All changes.docx 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

2. Conditional Uses.  All approved conditional uses in the underlying zoning district shall be 

allowed. 

3. No building within the district shall be erected, externally repaired, externally modified, 

expanded, externally altered, or demolished without a Certificate of Appropriateness issued by 

the FHPC.Any building in the district may, but shall not be required to, seek a Certificate of 

Appropriateness. The owner shall not be bound by the terms of the certificate. 

4.3.In determining whether or not to issue a Certificate of Appropriateness in this district, the 

FHPC shall be guided by Design Guidelines for the Courthouse Square Historic District.  

Such Guidelines are attached to this Chapter as Appendix 405 A.  The City Clerk shall 

maintain a copy of the guidelines at City Hall and a copy shall be published on the City Web 

site. 

SECTION THREE. The City Code Section 415.420 is hereby amended by repealing said section and 

enacting one new section in lieu thereof to read as follows: 

 

 415.420 Certificate Of Appropriateness — When Required. 

A. A certificate of appropriateness may be requested, but shall not be requiredshall be required before the 

following actions affecting the exterior architectural appearance of any landmark or any structure within 

a historic district may be undertaken:  

1. Any construction, alteration or removal requiring a building permit from the City of Fayette. 

2. Any demolition in whole or in part requiring a demolition permit from the City of Fayette. 

3. Any construction, alteration, demolition or removal affecting a significant exterior architectural feature 

or appearance as specified in the ordinance designating the landmark or historic district. 

4. Any construction, alteration or removal involving earth-disturbing activities that might affect 

archaeological resources. 

5. Any actions to correct a violation of a minimum maintenance standard. 

5.4. 

SECTION THREE: Effective Date.  

This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after the date of its passage and approval and shall 

remain in effect until amended or repealed by the Board of Aldermen. 

 

Read Twice and approved by Roll Call Vote 

 

 

Dated this ______day of ____________, 2024. 

      

         

     _________________ 

     Mayor 

 

Attest: 

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Font: Not Bold



Drafter's Note: Deleted text is shown thus. Inserted text is shown thus. 

05-c Amending Historic Preservation Version C - VoluntaryAmending Historic Preservation Version 

A - All changes.docx 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

 

__________________________ 

Judith Thompson, City Clerk 

 

 



















































                                 

 Contracting-Heating-Air Conditioning-Electrical Wiring 

Proposal
SUBMITTED TO:  City of Fayette

PHONE:   DATE:  7/2/24
                                                                                                JOB NAME: Replace AC System
                                                                                                JOB LOCATION: Electrical Building
 

**THIS QUOTE EXPIRES 30-DAYS FROM THE DATE LISTED ABOVE**

All estimates are based on current material cost. If your project starts after the 30-Days from the
date listed above, the total cost of the bid could increase.

______________________________________________________________________________________________
The following estimate covers labor and materials:

We propose to furnish and install  the following Carrier  equipment:  Carrier  FJ4DNXB30 Air
Handler, 25SCA530 Heat Pump ( 2.5 Ton 15 SEER ), and a new 15 KW Heat Package.

We will run the refrigerant, electrical and drain lines. 

This system has a full one-year service warrant. The FJ4 and 25SCA have additional four-year
parts warranties.
 
______________________________________________________________________________________________
We propose hereby to furnish material and labor-complete in accordance with above specifications, for the sum of:

 Eight Thousand Six Hundred and Fifty Seven dollars and no cents -------------  $8,657.00

Payment to be made in full upon completion of job or monthly as job progresses.
______________________________________________________________________________________________
All material is guaranteed to be as specified. All work to be completed in a workmanlike manner according to standard
practices. Any alteration or deviation from above specifications involving extra costs will be executed only upon written
orders,  and  will  become an  extra  charge  over  and  above the  estimate.  All  agreements  contingent  upon  strikes,
accidents or delays beyond our control. Owner to carry fire, tornado and other necessary insurance. Our workers are
fully covered by Worker's Compensation Insurance.
______________________________________________________________________________________________
Acceptance of Proposal                                                                                 Hilgedick Electric Service, Inc.
The above prices, specifications and conditions are 
Satisfactory and are hereby accepted. You are authorized                      _____________________________________ 
To do the work as specified. Payment will be made as outlined.            Dave Huntsman, Office  Manager 
                               
By:_______________________________________________

By:_______________________________________________







Bill No. 

Ord. No. 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 405 OF THE CITY CODE 

REGARDING HISTORIC BUILDINGS 

 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Aldermen of the City of Fayette, Missouri, as follows: 

 

SECTION ONE:  The City Code, Chapter 405, is hereby amended by adding one new 

section to read as follows:  

 

Section 405.310 Historic Overlay Districts 

 

A.  Historic Overlay Districts may be created as provided in Chapter 415. 

 

B.  Courthouse Square Historic Overlay District. 

 

1.  Permitted uses.  All permitted uses allowed in the underlying zoning district shall be 

allowed. 

 

2.  Conditional Uses.  All approved conditional uses in the underlying zoning district 

shall be allowed. 

 

3.   The Fayette Courthouse Square Historic Overlay District was established and 

designated by ordinance on June 25, 2024.   

 

4.  No building within the district shall be erected, externally repaired, externally 

modified, expanded, externally altered, or demolished without a Certificate of Appropriateness 

issued by the Fayette Historic Preservation Commission (FHPC). 

 

 5.  In determining whether or not to issue a Certificate of Appropriateness in this district, 

the FHPC shall be guided by Design Guidelines for the Courthouse Square National Register 

Historic District.  Such guidelines are attached to this Chapter as Appendix 405 A.  The City 

Clerk shall maintain a copy of the guidelines at City Hall and a copy shall be published on the 

City Website.  

 

 6.  The decisions made by the FHPC on Certificates of Appropriateness in the 

Courthouse Square Historic Overlay District are advisory and compliance by the property owner 

with such decisions is voluntary and nonbinding.  EXCEPTION:  Compliance shall be 

mandatory for any decisions where an incentive for financial assistance from the City of Fayette, 

Downtown Fayette or the Historic Downtown Community Improvement District is being sought.  

Furthermore, Sections 415.500, 415.510 and 415.520 of Chapter 415 may be utilized by the 

property owner in cases of economic hardship. 

 

 7.   Per Sections 415.620, 415.630, and 415.640 of Chapter 415, nothing in this 

Ordinance shall be construed to prevent the ordinary maintenance or repair of any exterior 

elements of any building or structure within the Fayette Courthouse Square Local Historic 

District. 



 

 

 

 

 

SECTION TWO:  Effective Date.  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and 

after the date of its passage and approval and shall remain in effect until amended or 

repealed by the Board of Aldermen. 

 

Read Twice and approved by Roll Call Vote.  Dated this _____ day of ____________, 2024. 

 

 

 

       ____________________________________ 

       Mayor 

 

 

Attest: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Judith Thompson, City Clerk 

 
































	
	
	Contracting-Heating-Air Conditioning-Electrical Wiring
	Acceptance of Proposal Hilgedick Electric Service, Inc.


